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Preliminary Statement 

 Plaintiff Harold Baergas was terminated from his employment in the Receiving 

Department at Macy’s East, Inc.’s (“Macy’s”) flagship store located on West 34th Street in New 

York, New York in or around March 2002 after an investigation by the Macy’s Security 

Department revealed that plaintiff had engaged in theft.  After being detained by members of 

Macy’s Security Department, plaintiff was arrested by members of the New York City Police 

Department and then prosecuted by the New York County District Attorney’s Office for theft.  

The charges against plaintiff were, however, ultimately dismissed. 

 Plaintiff brings the current action against Macy’s, as well as a host of other defendants,1 

alleging a myriad of statutory and common law claims.2  Notwithstanding the plethora of counts 

and parties in the case, plaintiff’s claims essentially boil down to two (2) distinct sets of claims 

that are based upon entirely separate and distinct factual circumstances -- (1) that plaintiff, and a 

class of other employees he purports to represent, were discriminated against based upon his race 

and national origin during his employment at Macy’s (Counts V and IV), and (2) that plaintiff 

was falsely arrested, prosecuted and defamed, and that his civil rights were violated by Macy’s 

                                                           
1 Specifically, plaintiff also names the following additional parties as defendants: Federated 
Department Stores, Inc., Macy’s parent corporation; Federated Logistics, an unincorporated 
division of Federated Department Stores, Inc.; Christopher DeSantis, an individual employed in  
Macy’s Security Department; Scott Chester, Jr., plaintiff’s former supervisor at Macy’s; Michael 
Green, a former co-worker at Macy’s; the City of New York; the New York City Police 
Department; and, the Frick Company.  

 1

2 The counts in plaintiff’s complaint are as follows: false arrest and imprisonment (Count I); 
malicious prosecution (Count II); defamation (Count III); intentional infliction of emotional 
distress (Count IV); violations of the New York Human Rights Law, Executive Law section 296 
et seq.(Count V); violations of the New York City Human Rights Law, Administrative Code 
section 8-107, et seq. (Count VI); municipal liability under 42 U.S.C. section 1983 (Count VII); 
and, violations of 42 U.S.C. sections 1983 and 1985 (Count VIII). 
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and the City defendants, in connection with his arrest and prosecution for theft (remaining 

Counts). 

 For the reasons set forth more fully herein, defendants Macy’s, Federated Department 

Stores, Inc., Federated Logistics and Christopher DeSantis (hereinafter collectively referred to as 

the “Macy’s defendants”) hereby request that this Court sever plaintiff’s employment 

discrimination claims arising under state and local law (Counts V and VI), which are brought as 

a putative class action, from his remaining claims, which consist of federal civil rights claims 

and pendent state law claims.  As set forth herein, plaintiff’s class action discrimination claims 

under state and local law and his federal civil rights/common law claims are entirely different 

from one another and involve different factual circumstances.  They will require the testimony of 

different witnesses and different documentary proof.  Severance will further the interests of 

judicial economy, prevent unfair prejudice to all named parties and will not unfairly prejudice 

plaintiff.  Accordingly, the Macy’s defendants’ motion to sever should be granted. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS3 
 

Background 

 Plaintiff, a Hispanic male of Puerto Rican decent, was employed at Macy’s for ten years. 

(Complaint, ¶¶ 3, 12).  During the latter part of his employment at Macy’s, plaintiff worked in 

the Receiving Department under the supervision of Scott Chester, Jr. (“Mr. Chester”), a white 

male. (Complaint, ¶¶ 15, 6; Macy’s defendants’ Answer at ¶¶ 15, 6).  

Plaintiff’s Discrimination Claims 

 According to plaintiff, he was discriminated against on the basis of his race/national 

origin, passed over for promotion and subjected to a hostile work environment during his 

                                                           

 2
3  Defendants admit those facts as alleged in Plaintiff’s Complaint solely for purposes of the instant Motion. 
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employment at Macy’s. (Complaint, ¶¶ 17-20).  Plaintiff claims he began suffering from 

racial/national origin discrimination in 2001 when he was passed over for promotion to Team 

Leader. (Complaint, ¶ 17).  Plaintiff believes Macy’s failed to promote him to Team Leader 

because of his race/national origin and because he associated with and befriended other minority 

employees in his Department. (Complaint, ¶¶ 18-19). 

 Plaintiff also asserts that Mr. Chester made derogatory statements to and about plaintiff 

and other minority employees and subjected them to hyper scrutiny as a result of Mr. Chester’s 

belief that minorities had a “propensity to steal, take drugs, and engage in other criminal 

activity.” (Complaint, ¶¶ 21-26).  As a result, plaintiff claims he was subjected to a hostile work 

environment. (Complaint, ¶ 21, 27).  He claims he complained to Mr. Chester about 

“Defendants’ employment practices and filed grievances” with his union. (Complaint, ¶ 38).  In 

2001, plaintiff became union shop steward.  (Complaint, ¶ 41).  As a result, the frequency of his 

complaints increased because his duty as union steward was to bring the employment complaints 

on behalf of his co-workers. (Complaint, ¶ 40).   

Despite his alleged complaints to Mr. Chester and to other managerial employees, 

plaintiff asserts that Macy’s made no attempt to stop/prevent the alleged discrimination plaintiff 

and other union members suffered. (Complaint, ¶ 43).  In retaliation for making complaints as a 

shop steward, plaintiff alleges that he was subjected to intensified hostility and retaliatory acts. 

(Complaint, ¶ 44).  Plaintiff claims this retaliation culminated in his termination on March 7, 

2002. (Complaint, ¶¶ 44-45, 77). 

Plaintiff’s Claims Relating to his Arrest and Prosecution 

 While still employed at Macy’s, on or about March 6, 2002, plaintiff was detained by 

members of Macy’s Security Department for stealing merchandise. (Complaint, ¶ 46).  As 

 3
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plaintiff was leaving work, he and another minority employee (Michael Greene, who is also a 

named defendant in the above action) were escorted by members of Macy’s Security Department 

to separate holding rooms. (Complaint, ¶ 47).  Plaintiff alleges that members of Macy’s Security 

Department handcuffed him to a bench where he remained for three hours. (Complaint, ¶ 51).  

During this time, plaintiff claims he was denied both legal counsel and the assistance of his 

union representative despite requests for both. (Complaint, ¶¶ 54-55).  Plaintiff further alleges 

that he was frisked by Mr. DeSantis. (Complaint, ¶¶ 68-69). 

 Eventually, members of the New York City Police Department arrived and placed 

plaintiff under arrest. (Complaint, ¶ 73).  He was taken to the Midtown South Precinct and 

charged with theft. (Complaint, ¶ 23).  According to plaintiff, he was questioned for six hours 

and then spent 24 hours in a holding cell. (Complaint, ¶¶ 75-76).  After his release, plaintiff filed 

a grievance with his union for “unlawful termination, false arrest, and for refusal to provide him 

with assistance from the shop steward while he was being detained and searched without his 

consent.” (Complaint, ¶ 78). 

 Several months later, plaintiff appeared before Justice E. Coin and was charged with two 

counts of larceny. (Complaint, ¶ 79).  He refused to accept a guilty plea. (Complaint, ¶ 80-81).  

Thereafter, according to plaintiff, Justice Coin dismissed both larceny counts for lack of 

evidence. (Complaint, ¶ 84).  Following the dismissal, plaintiff appeared before Justice C. 

Berkman and was again charged with two counts of larceny. (Complaint, ¶¶ 85-87, 90).  Just as 

he had done before, plaintiff refused to accept a plea. (Id.).  Eventually, according to plaintiff, 

Justice Berkman also dismissed the second two larceny charges for lack of evidence. (Complaint, 

¶ 93). 

 

 4
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Procedural History 

 Plaintiff brings the current action against, inter alia, the Macy’s defendants, Mr. Chester, 

the City of New York and the New York City Police Department (hereinafter collectively 

referred to as “the City defendants”), alleging a myriad of statutory and common law claims.4  

Notwithstanding the plethora of counts and parties in the case, plaintiff’s action alleges two 

distinct branches of claims that are based upon entirely separate and distinct factual 

circumstances -- (1) that plaintiff, and a class of other employees he purports to represent, were 

discriminated against based upon his race and national origin during his employment at Macy’s 

in violation of state and local law (Counts V and IV), and (2) that plaintiff was falsely arrested, 

prosecuted and defamed, and that his federal civil rights were violated by Macy’s and the City 

defendants, in connection with his arrest and prosecution for theft (remaining Counts). 

 Plaintiff makes this dichotomy in his claims clear in the very first paragraph of his 

complaint when he states that he files this action 

for monetary damages (compensatory and punitive) against 
Defendants arising out of the false arrest, malicious prosecution, 
defamation and other violations of [his] constitutional, statutory 
and legal rights … including violations of section 1983.  Plaintiff 
[also] brings this action on behalf of himself and others similarly 
situated for discrimination on the basis of race and/or national 
origin with respect to harassment, hostile work environment, 
retaliation, promotion, termination and other terms and conditions 
of employment, and retaliation. 
 

(Complaint, ¶ 1).  Note: Plaintiff does not purport to represent a class of people in connection 

with his civil rights and common law claims, only with regard to his discrimination claims. 

 At no point in his complaint does plaintiff allege that Mr. Chester, the individual who he 

claims harbored discriminatory animus against him and who harassed him based upon his race 

                                                           

 5
4 Plaintiff’s complaint does not clearly delineate which claims he is bringing against which particular defendant(s). 
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and national origin, was involved in any way in the investigation conducted by Macy’s Security 

Department or in his arrest and prosecution.  Mr. Chester, for his part, has denied having any 

knowledge or information regarding plaintiff’s allegations relating to his arrest and prosecution.  

(Chester’s Answer at ¶¶46-104.)  The Macy’s defendants in their Answer further explained that 

Mr. Chester was employed in Macy’s Receiving Department whereas Mr. DeSantis, and the 

other individuals involved in the facts relating to plaintiff’s arrest, were all employed in an 

entirely different department, the Security Department. (Macy’s defendants’ Answer, ¶¶ 5, 6, 47, 

48). 

It is, moreover, apparent from the Macy’s defendants’ initial disclosures in this case that 

the witnesses and documents relating to plaintiff’s discrimination and civil rights/common law 

claims are entirely different.  The witnesses having information about plaintiff’s employment 

discrimination claims are those who worked in the Receiving and Human Resources Department, 

whereas the witnesses having information about plaintiff’s civil rights/common law claims are 

those who worked in the Security Department.  (Saunders Dec., Macy’s defendants’ Initial 

Disclosures at ¶1).  The documents relating to plaintiff’s claims are similarly distinct.  The 

documents relating to plaintiff’s employment discrimination claims are plaintiff’s personnel file, 

his union grievance file, Macy’s policies and procedures, etc.  (Saunders Dec., Macy’s 

defendants’ Initial Disclosures at ¶2).  Whereas, the documents relating to plaintiff’s civil rights 

and common law claims are the Security Department investigation file and records created by the 

New York City Police Department and the New York County District Attorney’s Office.  (Id.).   

As the Macy’s defendants’ initial disclosures make clear, there are no overlapping 

witnesses or documents in connection with the two main branches of plaintiff’s claims in this 

 6
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case.  Therefore, discovery on these claims will involve unrelated documents and witnesses, and 

the trial of this matter will not include overlapping witnesses or documents. 

ARGUMENT 

 Rule 21 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure permits the severance of any claim when 

doing so benefits the efficient disposition of litigation without severely prejudicing a party to the 

litigation.  In his complaint, plaintiff advances claims based on two separate sets of factual 

circumstances and legal theories, and involving multiple and different defendants -- class action 

discrimination claims under state and local law against Macy’s (and probably an aiding and 

abetting claim against defendant Chester) on the one hand, and federal civil rights/common law 

claims against Macy’s and the other defendants arising from his arrest and prosecution on the 

other hand.  The result is not only confusion, but the potential for unfair prejudice to the multiple 

parties to the litigation.  As such, plaintiff’s discrimination claims should be severed from his 

civil rights/common law claims in the interest of clarity and the efficient administration of 

justice. 

I. Legal Standard for Evaluating a Motion to Sever Claims 
 

“Rule 21 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that ‘[a]ny claim against a 

party may be severed and proceeded with separately.’  This provision authorizes the severance of 

any claim and is not limited to situations where there has been a finding of improper joinder or 

improper venue.” Wyndham Assoc. v. Bintliff, 398 F.2d 614, 618 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 393 

U.S. 977 (1968); see also Sporia v. Pennsylvania Greyhound Lines, 143 F.2d 105, 106-107 (3rd 

Cir. 1944).  Accordingly, Rule 21 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure “’permits a court to 

add or drop parties to an action when doing so would serve the ends of justice and further the 

prompt and efficient disposition of the litigation.’” German by German v. Federal Home Loan 
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Mortgage Corp., 896 F. Supp. 1385, 1400 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (Sweet, J.)(quoting E.I. DuPont de 

Nemours & Co. v. Fine Arts Reproduction Co., 1995 WL 312505, * 1-2 (S.D.N.Y. 1995)).  The 

decision to order severance is left to “’the sound discretion of the trial court’”. Id. (quoting State 

v. Hendrickson Bros., Inc., 840 F.2d 1065, 1082 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 848 (1988).  As 

such, decisions to sever are “interlocutory, and thus not ordinarily appealable.” Cain v. Board of 

Elections, 630 F. Supp 221, 225 (E.D.N.Y. 1986) (Wexler, J.). 

When determining whether severance is appropriate, courts generally consider the 

following four factors: “(1) whether the issues sought to be tried separately are significantly 

different from one another, (2) whether the separable issues require the testimony of different 

witnesses and different documentary proof, (3) whether the party opposing the severance will be 

prejudiced if it is granted and (4) whether the party requesting the severance will be prejudiced if 

it is not granted.” German, 896 F. Supp. at 1400 (citing Hal Leonard Publ’g. Corp. v. Future 

Generations, Inc., No. 93 Civ. 5290, 1994 WL 163987, at *1-2 (S.D.N.Y. 1994)). 

II. Severance of Plaintiff’s Class Action Employment Discrimination Claims from 
his Civil Rights/Common Law Claims Is Appropriate 

 
As set forth above, plaintiff’s various claims in the complaint can be categorized into two 

distinct branches -- (1) putative class action employment discrimination claims under state and 

local law against Macy’s, and (2) federal civil rights and common law claims against the Macy’s 

and City defendants relating to his arrest and prosecution.  Essentially, plaintiff has not only 

lumped together claims for two unrelated, distinct events against multiple, different defendants, 

he has lumped together a putative class action claim against Macy’s (and probably an aiding and 

abetting claim against defendant Chester) with civil rights and common law claims against 

Macy’s and a host of other specific and unrelated defendants.   

 8
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 These two main branches of claims are based upon different legal theories, different facts 

and circumstances, and were allegedly perpetrated by multiple, unrelated actors over several 

discrete periods in time.  As such, plaintiff’s class action discrimination claims and his civil 

rights/common law claims are entirely different from one another and involve different factual 

circumstances, the testimony of different witnesses and different documentary proof.  Thus, 

discovery of and the trial on these claims will be different. 

Plaintiff’s class action employment discrimination claims against the Macy’s defendants 

are based upon experiences over his plaintiff’s ten (10) years of employment at Macy’s, and in 

particular, in the Receiving Department.  They involve his interaction with co-workers, his work 

for the union, his desire for promotion, and the alleged racially motivated slurs made by his 

supervisor, Mr. Chester.  The witnesses having information about plaintiff’s employment 

discrimination claims are those who worked in the Receiving and Human Resources Department.  

(Macy’s defendants’ Initial Disclosures at ¶1).  The documents relating to these claims are 

plaintiff’s personnel file, his union grievance file, Macy’s policies and procedures, etc.  (Macy’s 

defendants’ Initial Disclosures at ¶2). 

Plaintiff’s other claims in his complaint for civil rights violations, false arrest, malicious 

prosecution, and defamation are all based upon plaintiff’s experience with Macy’s Security 

Department and law enforcement officials for the City.  They involve his interaction with and 

detention by members of Macy’s Security Department, his arrest by the City, and the City’s two 

prosecutions of the charges which caused his arrest.  The witnesses having information relevant 

to these claims are members of the Macy’s Security Department, the New York City Police 

Department and the New York District Attorney’s Office.  (Saunders Dec., Macy’s defendants’ 

Initial Disclosures at ¶1).  The documents relating to plaintiff’s civil rights and common law 

 9
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claims are the Security Department investigation file and records created by the New York City 

Police Department and the New York County District Attorney’s Office.  (Id. at ¶2).  In sum, 

there are no overlapping witnesses or documents in connection with the two main branches of 

plaintiff’s claims in this case. 

 At no point in his complaint does plaintiff allege that Mr. Chester, the individual who he 

claims harbored discriminatory animus against him and who harassed him based upon his race 

and national origin, was involved in any way in the investigation conducted by Macy’s Security 

Department or in his arrest and prosecution.  Mr. Chester, for his part, has denied having any 

knowledge or information regarding plaintiff’s allegations relating to his arrest and prosecution.  

(Chester’s Answer at ¶¶46-104.)  The Macy’s defendants in their Answer further explained that 

Mr. Chester was employed in Macy’s Receiving Department whereas Mr. DeSantis, and the 

other individuals involved in the facts relating to plaintiff’s arrest, were all employed in an 

entirely different department, the Security Department. (Macy’s defendants’ Answer, ¶¶ 5, 6, 47, 

48). 

Because of the distinct nature of these two main branches of plaintiff’s claims and the 

fact that plaintiff is not seeking to certify a class on any of his claims other than his employment 

discrimination claims against Macy’s, discovery in this case will be very broad and potentially 

difficult to control.  The defendants in the case other than Macy’s will needlessly incur 

significant fees and expenses to participate in discovery on plaintiff’s class action discrimination 

claims, and in class action certification motion practice, despite the fact that plaintiff’s class 

action claims do not concern any of the defendants other than Macy’s.  Severing plaintiff’s class 

action employment discrimination claims arising under state and local law (Counts V and VI) 

from the remaining claims in the complaint will allow for the controlled litigation of each 
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discrete set of claims.  Moreover, severance will allow the Court to easily define the scope of 

discoverable evidence and provide a forum where the relevant statutory defenses can be clearly 

articulated with little to no concern that severance of the claims will result in overlapping 

witnesses or proof during discovery or at trial. 

Severing the main branches of plaintiff’s claims into two separate actions would also 

provide clarity and would allow a jury to focus on plaintiff’s individual claims instead of being 

overwhelmed by one mega-trial on numerous unrelated claims, some of which could be tried as a 

class action.  The potential for juror confusion clearly exists should this action progress to trial 

without severance. 

 In sum, the Macy’s defendants believe severance will further the interests of judicial 

economy, prevent unfair prejudice to all named parties and will not unfairly prejudice plaintiff.  

Accordingly, the Macy’s defendants’ motion to sever should be granted. 

 11
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CONCLUSION 

For the forgoing reasons, the Macy’s defendants’ motion to sever Counts V and VI from 

plaintiff’s remaining claims should be granted. 

Dated: September 2, 2004 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

FEDERATED LOGISTICS, FEDERATED 
DEPARTMENT STORES, INC., MACY’S 
EAST, INC., and CHRISTOPHER 
DESANTIS, 

 
       By their attorneys, 
 
             
       __________/S/__________________ 
       Diane Saunders (DS6500) 
       MORGAN, BROWN & JOY, LLP 
       One Boston Place, Suite 1616 
       Boston, MA 02108-4472 
       (617) 523-6666 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on September 2, 2004, I caused a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing to be served, by first class mail, postage prepaid, upon: 

    Ian F. Wallace, Esquire 
    Michael Shen, Esquire 
    Michael Shen & Associates, P.C. 
    Attorneys for Plaintiff 
    225 Broadway, Suite 2515 
    New York, New York 10007 
 
    Alison Gugel, Esquire 
    Assistant Corporation Counsel 
    Office of the Corporation Counsel 
     for the City of New York 
    Attorneys for City Defendants 
    100 Church Street 
    New York, New York 10007 
 
    and 
 
    Mercedes Colwin, Esquire 
    L=Abbate, Balkan, Colavita & Contini, LLP 
    Attorneys for defendant Chester 
    One Battery Park Plaza 
    New York, New York 10004 
  
being the addresses designated by said attorneys for service of all pleadings. 

 
      _________/S/____________________ 
      Diane Saunders (DS6500)  
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